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Mission
Tearfund Australia is a Christian 
development, relief and advocacy 
organisation responding to global 
poverty and injustice. Our vision is for 
a just and compassionate world in 
which all people have the opportunity 
to achieve their God-given potential.

We will:

• inform, challenge and empower 
Australian Christians to make 
biblically shaped responses to 
poverty and injustice;

• support community-based Christian 
groups, churches and mission 
organisations around the world 
as they work holistically with poor 
communities in development, relief 
and advocacy;

• adhere to biblical teaching, and 
evaluate our work and attitudes in 
its light;

• maintain a low-cost administration 
regime in order to maximise the 
funds allocated to project partners.

Who we are
We’re working in partnership to 
end poverty, challenge inequality 
and build sustainable communities. 
Following Jesus, we go where the 
need is greatest, acting with courage 
to tackle injustice so that all may 
experience fullness of life.

Our partnerships with local Christian 
agencies develop long-term holistic 
transformation for communities 
facing poverty and injustice around 
the world and in Australia. We do 
justice together as we inspire, connect 
and equip Australian Christians to 
live, act and pray for a more just and 
compassionate world.

Values
As a faith-based Christian organisation, 
Tearfund Australia seeks to adhere 
to biblical teaching and evaluate 
our work and attitudes in its light. 
Consequently, we have made a 
commitment to the values listed 
below. These values are embedded 
in every aspect of the work we do, in 
Australia and around the world. 

• The poor

• The whole person

• Justice

• Prayer 

• Relationships

• Participation

• Excellence

• Learn from others

• Collaboration

• Accountability

Cover image:

This woman is part of a women’s action group in her 
village in rural, remote Nepal, where Tearfund’s partner 
Share and Care is working. In partnership with Share 
and Care and the local council, the group bought plastic 
drums and pipes for irrigation of kitchen gardens, and 
obtained a grant from the council to support their 
activities. Now, four of the women are doing vegetable 
farming, several are rearing goats and poultry, and one 
lady runs a shop selling spicy snacks to earn an income.

Share and Care’s work has a strong focus on women’s 
empowerment: women’s and adolescent girls’ groups have 
done a great deal of work in raising awareness of women’s 
rights, and of the harm caused by gender-based violence. 
One woman says: “We did not know about women’s 
rights before. We had no idea that we could approach the 
local government for support. Now we do, because of the 
women’s empowerment training we received.”

Ethiopia
In the Sidama region of Ethiopia, Aberash collects water 
for her family. Tearfund’s partner EKHCDC is supporting 
communities in this area.
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This	past	financial	year	has	once	again	centred	Tearfund’s	
vision for a more just and compassionate world as the driving 
force across all of the work in which we are involved. Across 
the pages of this Annual Report you will be able to see what 
this looks like through the work we support with our partners 
across	Africa,	Asia	and	the	Pacific…	and	here	in	Australia.

Over the past year, a new word which describes the context 
that faces so many of our project partners has entered 
our	lexicon.	The	word	is	“polycrisis”	and	it	is	defined	as	the	
simultaneous occurrence of multiple catastrophic events. 
Sadly, the impacts of climate change contributing to 
devastating	weather	events,	armed	conflict	raging	in	several	
parts of the world and an intransient hunger crisis, among 
other more regional challenges, has meant that the way we 
work and the projects we support are responding to the daily 
challenges of this polycrisis reality. 

We remain humbled and thankful for the way our local 
Christian partners are able to operate in the midst of this 
polycrisis. They are putting the love of Christ into tangible 
expression as they work to nurture hope and support 
transformational development in communities seeking to 
overcome poverty and injustice. This report shares several 
snapshots of this great work – and even more examples 
from the past year can be found at the Tearfund website 
(tearfund.org.au). 

An important theme across the work of Tearfund this past 
year has been our commitment to decolonisation. As part 
of	this,	our	Board	has	taken	its	first	steps	in	increasing	the	
voice and perspective from partner countries – and for the 
first	time	we	have	two	Board	Directors	who	come	from	
Asia and Africa. With their professional expertise they will 
continue to further strengthen our governance systems.

The	Australian	Government,	through	DFAT,	remains	a	very	
important partner supporting Tearfund’s program priorities. 
This past year we went through the very rigorous external 
accreditation audit process and were pleased to receive 
a strong endorsement for the high quality of our program 
work, development systems and administrative capacity.

We	are	also	thankful	for	another	solid	financial	year	–	and	
you can read more about this later in this report in our 
detailed	financial	statements.	Tearfund	remains	incredibly	
appreciative of the generosity of our supporters and 
volunteers who, in the midst of a tough economy, have 
continued to be very generous in their support and prayers.

High	inflation	and	rising	costs	have	required	Tearfund	and	
our partners to continue to adapt and adjust the ways we 
do our work. We foresee this to be an ongoing challenge 
through the coming year since we project that costs may 
grow faster than revenue in the next 12 months due to 
external economic factors. In this context, the Board and 
management continue to ensure issues of sustainability 
are	addressed	through	annual	and	long	term	financial	
forecasting. Controlling costs alongside a newly launched 
regular giving program will hopefully provide a solid and 
growing income base for the years ahead. 

Amidst these challenges, Tearfund’s strategic plan 
reiterates our priority to work in places where poverty and 
injustice are at their most extreme. These “hard places” are 
where local partners are living out the biblical imagery of 
being salt and light as they work to see the words of Luke 4, 
“good news for the poor, sight for the blind, freedom for the 
prisoners”, made into reality. 

Thank you for being part of this shared vision and mission.

Matthew Maury 
Chief	Executive	Officer

Joanna Watts 
Chair of the Board

Chief Executive Officer & 
Chair of the Board’s report
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Our Strategic Priorities:

Hard Places
Prioritising our work in places where  

the impacts of poverty and injustice are  
at their most oppressive.

Movements of Change
Working alongside partners, agencies, 

churches and supporters to truly address 
the systemic issues that entrench extreme 

poverty, inequality and injustice.

Broadening Engagement
Growing our work through deepening our 

engagement with the local church and 
global partners.

Climate	Justice	&	its	 
Impact on Poverty

Following God’s call for creation care and 
consistently amplifying the voices of the 

most vulnerable.

Tearfund Family Partnership
Building on our partnership with other 

Tearfund agencies globally to ensure we 
continue to grow our collective impact and 

become more effective in our mission.

In this Annual Report we have used  
the Strategic Priorities as our framework  

to reflect on our work from the past  
financial year.
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Ethiopia
Tesfaye is part of a Self-Help Group facilitated by 
Tearfund’s partner Tearfund Ireland. The group members 
were trained in sustainable organic agriculture and 
agri-business, and invested in a water pump which has 
enabled Tesfaye to irrigate his land and grow multiple 
crops in a year. Tesfaye now also farms a second piece of 
land not far away, so his business is expanding. As part 
of the group he is still saving money every week, and 
borrows from their savings pool to buy seed and fertiliser.
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* For every person directly involved, we expect a further 4-5 people  
in their household to be indirectly reached.

Men 128,527

Women 232,185

Boys 143,294

Girls 154,130

Total 658,136

This	figure	includes	13,016	people	 
with disabilities.

Indirect	at	1:4	 2,632,544

Total direct project  
participants 2022-23

$ 11,127,041 Total International Program

84 
cents in every 

donated 
dollar 

goes to Projects 
and Community 

Education

	 Partner	Development	Grants: 
$6,868,006		

 Humanitarian Emergency Grants: 
$2,609,552	

 Program Support Costs: 
$1,649,483		

Total Program  
Analysis

Tearfund Australia at a glance

2023

Internationally...

Reaching an expected 2,632,544 people*

105
projects

through 

50
partners

in 

20
countries

658,136
people directly  
participate in
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Africa   Development	& 
   Humanitarian  
Country Partners Projects Assistance

Ethiopia 4 8 $757,319
Mozambique	 3	 6	 $289,947
Somalia	 1	 3	 $357,685
South	Sudan	 2	 3	 $615,816
Sudan 1 1 $233,200
Uganda	 2	 3	 $165,971
Zambia	 2	 4	 $414,627
Zimbabwe 2 2 $311,911
TOTAL 17 30 $3,146,476

South Asia   Development	& 
   Humanitarian  
Country Partners Projects Assistance

Afghanistan	 5	 10	 $1,416,013
Bangladesh 3 5 $395,434
India 4 20 $1,254,039
Nepal	 7	 12	 $941,065
Pakistan	 3	 6	 $378,189
Sri Lanka 1 1 $397,592
Yemen 1 1 $30,371
TOTAL 24 55 $4,812,703

Global Program Support
Provided	to	existing	partners	 5	 $75,614

Total
	 	 	 Development	& 
 Partners Projects  Humanitarian Assistance

 50 105 $9,477,558

South	East	Asia	and	Pacific
   Development	& 
   Humanitarian  
Country Partners Projects Assistance

Cambodia	 2	 3	 $320,601
Indonesia	 2	 2	 $139,236
Laos	 2	 3	 $435,960
Myanmar	 2	 6	 $381,448
Solomon	Islands	 1	 1	 $165,520
TOTAL 9 15 $1,442,765

Emergency Humanitarian Grants
Afghanistan	 	$1,386,687		
Bangladesh	 $64,603
Myanmar	 	$75,762		
Ethiopia  $185,918 
Mozambique  $27,044

Pakistan  $215,149 
Somalia	 	$97,406	
South	Sudan	 	$45,699	
Sri Lanka  $397,592 
Uganda	 	$113,692	
TOTAL  $2,609,552 

In Australia...

Tearfund helped train 206 people  
to engage others with the message of justice

228
churches:

faithfully  
financially	
supporting

6
projects

1,273
people:
attended  

Tearfund events

through 

6
Indigenous 

partners

52
staff
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Tearfund Australia partners with 
others to create movements of 
change in order to see community 
transformation in hard places.
This transformation is made possible 
through broader supporter and partner 
engagement and by leveraging our 
Tearfund family partnership.

Our Strategic  
Priorities
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Our  
Strategic 
Priorities

Our  
Strategic 
Enablers

India
Tearfund’s partner EFICOR is working alongside 
communities to help them access their entitlements, 
participate in decision-making and encourage one 
another. Through this work, water harvesting systems, 
hand pumps, wells and roads have been constructed 
or improved in villages, which means better access to 
water for farming and kitchen gardens.
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Somalia
Jasira* and her baby live in Somalia, where drought means millions of people are 
facing acute food insecurity. Jasira and her family used to have a small farm where 
they grew their own crops and kept livestock, but the drought has destroyed their 
livelihood. They are now living in a camp for internally displaced people, where 
Tearfund’s partner is providing clean, safe water, and running health facilities and 
clinics that provide treatment for acute malnutrition.

“We all are very thankful that you care about us,” says Jasira. “In the morning, 
we are sure that your trucks arrive and bring fresh and safe water.”

*Name changed

Hard Places
As followers of Jesus, a commitment to hard places is a core 
distinctive of Tearfund. We will continue to shift our focus, 
resources, voice and capabilities to work with partners in the 
hard places where people are facing the most extreme aspects 
of poverty and injustice. Our partners are salt and light in the 
shadows and at the margins.

8 Annual Report 2022/23
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The organisations that Tearfund partners with in hard 
places like Afghanistan, Sudan and Somalia continue to 
patiently and creatively respond to issues that are beyond 
their	control,	such	as	conflict,	political	instability	and	
natural disasters. We have continued to see shrinking 
of the space for civil society – the growing impact of 
restrictions from authoritarian governments and regimes 
who are hostile to the work our partners and many others 
are doing.

The list of places we categorise as “hard” is not static. There 
are places in the world that wouldn’t have been considered 
hard places a few years ago but now are, largely due to “the 
three	‘C’s”	–	climate	change,	COVID-19	and	conflict.

The challenges faced by partners working in these hard 
places	continue	to	affirm	the	reality	of	our	strategic	plan.	
Hard places call for more investment of human resources 
and	finances.	Our	partnership	managers	have	invested	
additional time where it’s been needed, for example, 
to support partners who are facing persecution in India 
and Afghanistan, or to appraise additional emergency 
proposals as hard places continue to be confronted by 
more emergencies. The challenge for our International 
Programs Team and for partners is to continue being 
responsive and organised in a way that also provides space 
to be agile to respond to the uncertainties that come with 
our strategic priority on hard places.

Drought, flood and hunger
The Horn of Africa hunger crisis in many ways encapsulates 
what we mean by hard places. The worst drought to hit the 
region	in	40	years,	after	five	consecutive	years	of	below-
average	rainfall,	has	been	exacerbated	by	conflict	and	

instability, the impact of the pandemic and increasing food 
prices,	caused	partly	by	the	conflict	between	Russia	and	
Ukraine. The drought has left millions of people facing acute 
hunger, and caused widespread loss of livestock, destroyed 
crops and forced more than a million people from their 
homes in search of food and water.

Tearfund’s appeal to support our partners working 
in places hit hardest by the hunger crisis, including 
Mozambique, Somalia, South Sudan and Ethiopia, raised 
$571,850	in	the	22/23	financial	year.

Also during 2022, Tearfund’s Pakistan Floods Emergency 
Appeal raised $154,413 which supported our partner, the 
Diocese	of	Hyderabad,	in	its	relief	work.	The	floods	led	
to the loss of hundreds of lives and displaced millions of 
people, destroyed homes, schools and infrastructure, and 
impacted livelihoods.

Humanitarian response
During	the	past	year	Tearfund	has	provided	$2,609,552	in	
humanitarian	funding	to	its	partners.	$1,086,977	or	42%	
per cent of this was to support projects of local or national 
NGOs. Support for relief projects run by local or national 
partners	in	Sri	Lanka	(economic	crisis),	Pakistan	(flooding),	
Ethiopia and Uganda (drought and food security) make 
up the majority of this amount. Afghanistan continues to 
receive	significant	humanitarian	funding	but	this	is	 
primarily directed to international organisations.

“Working through local or locally-based partners is 
informed by the conviction that communities are the 
experts of their situation; they know their problems 
best and know how the best solutions would look.”

Mary	Gaitho,	Tearfund’s	International	Program	Director,	reflects	
on what it means to support partners in hard places. Scan the QR 
code to read her full article.

Tearfund Australia is thankful for the support of the Australian 
Government through the Australian NGO Cooperation Program (ANCP), 
which co-funds the work of EFICOR, Share and Care, CMC Nepal, 
ACROSS, Emmanuel Hospital Association, Diocese of Hyderabad, 
Medair and EKHCDC with Tearfund Australia.
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Movements of Change
We can achieve greater impact when we invest in partnerships 
that result in movements of change. Partnering is a core strength 
of Tearfund and we will continue to accelerate and leverage our 
partnerships to strengthen organisations and coalitions that create 
genuine movements of change, to address the systemic issues that 
entrench extreme poverty, inequality and injustice. We will work 
to	clarify	and	define	our	distinctive	approach	to	partnering	and	
partnership, and build this knowledge and capability among our staff.

Supporting movements of change
In 2022/23, Tearfund’s partners have engaged in capacity 
strengthening across a range of areas. A total of 27 
partners	out	of	53	have	had	significant	investment	and	
support in additional areas of capacity strengthening 
from Tearfund. This investment has been in areas that are 
complementary to the ongoing support and work from 
the Tearfund International Program Team in areas of 
accountability and due diligence.

A	significant	amount	of	the	work	in	capacity	strengthening	
is in supporting partners to do their own analysis and 
clarify	their	priorities	and	best-fit	solutions,	and	then	
supporting	them	to	reflect	on	their	experience	and	to	
embed learning. However, there are also some areas of 
direct organisation funding support and in this period 
such funding has provided opportunities for disaster 
risk	reduction	training	for	Vision	TERUDO	in	Uganda,	
community-based approaches to supporting inclusion of 
people with psychosocial disabilities for CMC Nepal and 
EFICOR	in	India,	and	exposure	visits	for	specific	areas	
of technical learning (PNL Nepal, Emmanuel Hospital 
Association India, and ACROSS and SEM in South Sudan).

Additional areas of inputs from Tearfund staff through the 
past year have included leadership support and coaching, 
developing and reviewing Theories of Change, strategic 
planning, and support for learning in climate change 
adaptation, mental health in development programs, 
proposal writing, and monitoring, evaluation and learning 
systems and tools.

Working in partnership
Partnership in advocacy remains a focus and a strength 
for Tearfund. We work alongside local, national and global 
organisations and coalitions, including Micah Australia  
and the broader sector Public Engagement Campaign 
Coalition, to advocate for responses that truly address the 
systemic issues that entrench extreme poverty, inequality 
and injustice.

The Help Fight Famine campaign, which was developed in 
response to the global hunger crisis and ran in the lead-
up to the federal budget, had some very encouraging 
wins. Through a collaborative effort from organisations 
across the aid and development sector, thousands of 
Australians joined the call to write to their MP and urge the 
government to take action. In May 2023, the government 
made an allocation of $29 million from the Humanitarian 
Emergency Fund to partners in the Horn of Africa and 
Middle East. This was in addition to $40 million allocated 
to famine relief in the 2022/23 budget.

As part of this campaign, Tearfund’s Head of Advocacy 
Emma Wyndham Chalmers took part in the Micah Women 
Leaders Network lobbying delegation, and shared a video 
highlighting the impacts and challenges of the hunger 
crisis at the Network’s national tour events.

“Passion to serve as a leader cannot be effective unless it is 
accompanied by the right knowledge. I believe that no matter how 

strong our leaders are, there is always room for improvement. Our team 
will always learn new things which can be useful for the success of the 
organisation. The capacity building and professional development that 
Tearfund Australia has provided in the past and will be provided in the 
future is essential for our organisation to bring our vision into reality.”

Hamdani Tedja, chair of the board of Tearfund partner Yasera
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A First Nations Voice  
to Parliament
Tearfund supported the case to vote Yes to the referendum 
question of whether a First Nations Voice should be 
enshrined in the Constitution. We released a position 
statement in January 2023 articulating this support, and, 
working with First Nations Christians, developed a range of 
resources to equip Christians to do the work of advocacy 
amongst their church communities and social networks. 
We collaborated with Common Grace to create Table Talk 
Conversations for the Voice to Parliament: A Christian Guide. 
This guide brought together a range of resources to spark 
a conversation grounded in prayer and the values of our 
Christian faith. Tearfund was a member of the coalition 
Allies for Uluru.

Partnering to support  
First Peoples in Australia
In 2022/2023 Tearfund partnered with six Christian 
organisations which have delivered projects focused on 
improving social outcomes for First Nations communities.  
All these organisations are either led by Christian First 
Nations	people	or	have	significant	involvement	of	Christian	
First Nations people at a governance and management level. 
Tearfund’s total domestic programs expenditure amounted 
to	$433,687,	which	includes	disbursements	to	partners.

One of Tearfund’s partners is Nungalinya College, a combined 
churches training college in the Northern Territory. Tearfund 
partners with Nungalinya on its Faith and Family Wellbeing 
program.	In	this	Certificate	II	course,	students	–	who	are	
leaders in their communities – learn skills to help them 
cope	with	situations	of	stress	and	conflict.	They	learn	self-
care practices and are equipped to help their communities 
navigate these situations. Robert (pictured below), who is 
from Arnhem Land, took the course in 2022. He says the 
conflict	resolution	skills	he	has	learned	have	been	very	
helpful when tensions have arisen in his community.

In November 2022, Tearfund led a group of emerging 
leaders as delegates to the Pacific Australian Emerging 
Leaders Summit in Canberra. The Summit, a joint initiative of 
Micah	Australia	and	the	Pacific	Council	of	Churches,	brought	
together	over	90	young	leaders	from	the	Pacific	and	across	
Australia to meet with politicians, share the stories of their 
communities and advocate on issues that impact our region. 
Climate justice was a major focus of the discussions.

Rohen, one of Tearfund’s Australian delegates, said: 
“It’s an eye opening experience to hear from different 
members of parliament across the political spectrum and 
understand where they’re coming from.”

Raymond Talasivo, from Ola Fou, Tearfund’s partner in 
the Solomon Islands, said: “Climate change is a global 
issue.	And	it	will	affect	us	most	…	I	learned	a	lot	from	First	
Nations	people	–	they	have	the	heart	to	show	us	Pacific	
Islanders how we can advocate.”

Northern Territory
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Broadening Engagement
Broadening and deepening our engagement with Australian 
Christians and the church is central to growing our number 
of supporters and our income, to our mission and to true 
transformation.	We	want	to	see	growth	in	our	influence	and	impact	
on policy change as we engage parts of the church (including new 
churches and denominations). We hope to grow through linking 
supporters and partners together in new ways.

Nepal
Tearfund invests in a cut-and-sew 
manufacturing business as part 
of the forTomorrow enterprise 
development program.
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The Justice Conference
In October 2022 The Justice Conference returned to live 
events after these were paused for three years due to 
the global pandemic. Four live events were held across 
Melbourne, Brisbane, Sydney and Perth in October 2022, 
and there were also two online events in August and 
September. The 2022 Justice Conference series of events 
focused on the Lord’s Prayer, with the overarching theme 
of “On Earth as it is in Heaven”.

The Justice Conference has been an important way for 
Tearfund	to	fulfil	our	discipleship	mandate	within	the	
Australian church, and a key contributor to the goal 
of Broadening Engagement. In 2022, 37 per cent of 
attendees at Justice Conference online and in-person 
events were new to Tearfund Australia. Notably, 80 per 
cent	of	Perth	registrations	and	76	per	cent	of	Sydney	
registrations	were	first-time	registrations,	and	in	Sydney	41	
per cent of registrations were for people aged between 19 
and 35, our target audience for this series of events.

Over the course of the six events we had a range of people 
speaking,	53	per	cent	of	them	female,	and	69	per	cent	
identifying as people of colour.

forTomorrow - Tearfund’s 
Enterprise Development Program
Tearfund’s forTomorrow enterprise development program 
expands the approach taken by our Christian partners to 
address poverty and marginalisation. In the past year, we 
have continued to collaborate with a small number of social 
enterprises in Asia and Africa. In Nepal, two of Tearfund’s 
existing development partners have commenced their 
own social enterprises and are gradually working toward 
commercial viability. One of these enterprises provides 
high-quality holistic mental health services and aims to 
contribute to national-level mental health awareness and 
well-being. The social enterprise believes that all individuals 
in Nepal have the right to the best available mental health 
care, regardless of their socioeconomic background.

In June 2023, Tearfund, in conjunction with three other 
impact	investing	partners,	finalised	an	investment	in	a	
10-year-old, high-quality cut-and-sew manufacturing 
business in Kathmandu, Nepal. The social enterprise is 
a member of the World Fair Trade Organization and the 
Business Freedom Alliance, employing over 200 people. 
Approximately half of these employees come from 
marginalised and often exploited backgrounds, with over 
90 per cent being women. Employees receive a living 
wage, dignity, respect, a supportive community, and an 
opportunity to further develop their skills for many years 
to	come.	Over	the	next	five	years,	the	impact	investment	
will be repaid to Tearfund and the other investors, with 
Tearfund using its proportion to support the ongoing work 
of the forTomorrow program.

‘Pray Like This’: Tearfund’s 2023 
Lent series
Our Lenten series “Pray Like This” followed Jesus’ teaching in 
the Lord’s Prayer through prayer, art and spiritual practices. 
Contributors to the series included Sono Leone from Strong 
Women Talking, one of our First Peoples partners, Santy 
Tarigan	from	Yasera	in	Indonesia,	and	Elisama	Wani	Daniel	
from ACROSS, South Sudan. 1,998 people signed up to be 
part of the series, half of them new to Tearfund.

Partnership in prayer is right at the heart of Tearfund, and 
we were also able to share in prayer together during Lent 
through face-to-face and online prayer events. Across 
these gatherings – in Melbourne, Sydney, Perth, Brisbane 
and online – 85 Tearfund supporters and staff prayed 
together for people around the world facing the extreme 
challenges of the hunger crisis. Tearfund CEO Matthew 
Maury shared prayers that were written at these events 
with politicians on a trip to Canberra, using the opportunity 
to discuss the impact of the hunger crisis on the 
communities that Tearfund’s partners work with as well as 
advocating for an increase in the Australian aid budget.

Melbourne
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Climate Justice  
& its Impact on Poverty
Tearfund will play a role in equipping, empowering and convening Christians 
around climate justice as part of a movement globally and locally, including 
in the Tearfund workplace. We know the impact climate change is having 
and will have on those facing extreme poverty, with the potential to threaten 
much of the progress made in reducing poverty rates over the last century.

This is still a Rubbish Campaign
In April, Tearfund launched the Rubbish Campaign 2.0, a 
new version of the highly successful campaign we were 
part of in 2019 that targeted four big plastic polluters to 
reduce their plastic use. The current campaign focuses on 
negotiations that are under way between the leaders and 
representatives of 173 nations on developing a Global 
Plastics Treaty to end plastic pollution by 2040. Together 
with the global Tearfund Family and the Renew Our World 
campaign, we are calling for a treaty that will address 
the social impacts of plastic pollution alongside the 
environmental impacts, and improve the lives of people 
living in poverty.

There has been a strong response to our online petition 
to the Australian Government from both existing 
audiences and people new to Tearfund, with more than 
3000 people signing the petition by June 2023, and 
300 downloading the resources we have developed for 
the campaign. We have been able to leverage growing 
awareness of the problem of plastic pollution in the 
wider community, and demonstrate how it is not only 
contributing to the climate crisis, but disproportionately 
affecting people in vulnerable communities.

Climate conversations
The landmark research report we released in March 2022, They 
Shall Inherit the Earth, has proven to be a powerful tool for 
growing the conversation about climate justice in our churches, 
and continues to generate opportunities for engagement, such 
as invitations to speak at church services and forums.

In October 2022, Tearfund hosted the Faith in the Future panel 
event, which provided practical ideas for how church leaders, 
chaplains, teachers and parents can provide pastoral support 
to young people experiencing climate anxiety.

 Camden Valley, NSW
 The Camden Valley Church in NSW    
 has engaged with the Rubbish   
 Campaign, with parishioners signing  
 Tearfund’s petition and using Tearfund 
  resources to learn more about the harms     
   caused by plastic pollution. One said: “I am  
    so glad we are talking about this at church.  
      It is so encouraging and so necessary.”
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After the forum, our partner Yasera wanted to think 
more intentionally and strategically about how it can 
incorporate more climate change activities into its work. 
In April, Tearfund programs staff held a half-day workshop 
with Yasera’s senior staff and board on climate change 
and adaptation. Our staff will continue encouraging 
partners to explore ways of integrating climate change 
mitigation and adaptation into their projects.

How we are tracking

Tearfund Family 
Partnership
We will invest in, build and leverage our partnership with the other 
Tearfund agencies globally as a core strength to ensure we continue 
to grow our collective mission impact. Our greater collaboration will 
enable	us	to	be	more	effective	and	efficient	with	and	for	our	program	
partners, in our campaign work, and with our supporter engagement.

Tearfund	Australia	has	benefited	greatly	in	2022/23	from	
being part of the global Tearfund family. The sharing of 
knowledge, resources and wisdom is leading to greater 
efficiency	and	understanding	in	our	advocacy,	financial	
reviews, communications, international program coordination, 
staff training and prayer for our partners and their work. Twice 
a year, members of the global Tearfund Family gather online 
to pray together and encourage each other.

Working together on  
advocacy and programs
In September the Tearfund Family Advocacy Group was 
formed, bringing together heads of advocacy from a 

29%*  
of our Tearfund  

projects have climate 
change as a primary or 

secondary objective

 *As at September 2023

$754.66  
spent to offset  

carbon emissions  
from staff air travel

Building resilience
Tearfund supports partners around the world to promote 
sustainable farming and equip farmers with seeds, tools, 
techniques and resources to help them cope with an 
increasingly unpredictable climate. 

One farmer, Mr Kalicharan, participated in various training 
and exposure programs on climate change adaptation 
through Tearfund’s partner EFICOR, and received a plantation 
of fruit saplings for his plot. He says he has noticed the 
impact of climate change on rainfall patterns and crop yields.

“The training [on climate change] was eye-opener for  
us,” he said.

Working with our partners
Tearfund’s programs staff held a forum with partners in 
February, which included presentation of a new report 
developed by Tearfund on how our partners are responding 
to	climate	change,	and	a	Q&A	session	with	representatives	
from three of our partners. The forum produced a list of 
suggestions from partners about ways that Tearfund can 
better support them as they attempt to address climate 
change-related issues in their work.

number of Tearfund Family members (the UK, New 
Zealand, Germany, Canada, the Netherlands and Australia) 
to share advocacy knowledge, intelligence, collaborative 
opportunities and to develop shared campaigns.

Our programs team has pursued opportunities to work 
with other Tearfund Family members to strengthen our 
support for partners. A partnership with Tearfund Germany 
in	conflict-affected	Yemen	continues,	and	is	helping	people	
to rebuild their lives and provide for their families. Programs 
staff representing various Tearfund Family agencies 
have met together in working groups to explore further 
opportunities for shared implementation and learning. We 
look forward to seeing these opportunities emerge and 
deliver	more	effective,	efficient	support	for	our	partners.
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Matthew Maury  
(Chief Executive Officer)
BA	(Hons),	MBA	(Dev	Studies),	GAICD
Appointed: 2009

Responsibilities: Governance/Membership 
Committee management liaison

Number of meetings attended: 5/5

Matthew is Tearfund Australia’s CEO. For more 
than 30 years he has worked in a variety of 
positions with Christian development agencies, 
ranging from grassroots community development 
to senior management. His experience involves 
work with marginalised communities in Africa, 
Asia, Latin America and the Middle East. Matthew 
is the Vice-Chair of the ACFID Board, Chair of the 
Emergency Action Alliance and a Board member 
of the Integral Alliance.

Peter Lochore 
BA,	LLB	(1st	Hons),	Grad	Dip	Bus	Law,	
LLM, CertGovNFP
Appointed: November 2018

Responsibilities:	Governance	&	Membership	
Committee Chair

Number of meetings attended: 5/5

Peter is an experienced dispute-resolution 
lawyer. He works from Francis Burt Chambers 
as an independent barrister and a nationally 
accredited Mediator. Peter’s practice extends 
across public, civil and commercial law.

Executive 
Leadership Team  
& Board members

Executive Leadership Team
Matthew Maury,	Chief	Executive	Officer
Kate Edmeades,	Digital	Services	Director
Stephen Gunaratnam,	Chief	Financial	Officer
Greg Hewson,	Australian	Program	Director

Karen Naylor,	People	and	Culture	Director
Mary Mbuki Gaitho, International	Program	Director

Outgoing in 22/23 Paul Flavel,	Australian	Program	Director

Joanna Watts 
BA (Hons), PG Cert (Higher  
Education Administration)
Appointed: November 2015

Responsibilities:	Chair;	Governance	&	
Membership Committee Member

Number of meetings attended: 5/5

Joanna is the Executive Director of Advancement 
in the University of Melbourne Advancement 
Office. She has extensive experience in 
organisational development, designing and 
leading programs, project management and 
overseeing operations functions. She has over 30 
years’ experience of governance in educational 
and philanthropic settings. She has been involved 
with Tearfund since 2005, when she joined the 
Diamond Valley Tearfund group.

Doug Crocket 
BEng (Electrical)
Appointed: November 2019

Responsibilities: Impact Investment Chair; 
Assurance Committee member

Number of meetings attended: 5/5

Doug is an electrical engineer with extensive 
operational and strategic leadership background 
in the retail, energy, technology and not-for-
profit sectors. Doug has now retired from paid 
employment and has spent the last seven years 
of his employment as the Administrator for the St 
Hilary’s Network Anglican Church.

Board members
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Hannah Kallady 
BA, M Jnl
Appointed: November 2018

Responsibilities:	Governance	&	Membership	
Committee Member

Number of meetings attended: 4/5

Hannah is the Senior Product Consultant at 
Australians Together, a not-for-profit organisation 
that aims to educate non-Indigenous Australians 
on First Nations peoples, cultures and histories. 
Hannah’s role is focused on expanding the 
organisation’s reach beyond schools and into 
workplaces to increase understanding across 
a broader network of Australian society. She 
was previously a Senior Strategy Advisor at 
ntegrity and loves solving complex problems to 
help organisations lean into a more digital and 
customer-focused future.

Sarah Mateljan 
LLB (Merit Honours), BA (Psych), 
GradCertBus (Social Impact)
Appointed: November 2020

Responsibilities: Program Committee Member; 
Impact Investment Committee Member

Number of meetings attended: 4/5

Sarah is the co-founder and CEO of an edtech 
start-up that provides online education for 
lawyers. She has been involved with Tearfund 
since 2009 when she joined a DEEP trip to India. 
Since then, she has been a fieldworker with one 
of Tearfund’s partners in Afghanistan, supporting 
in-person and online education projects, and 
served on the Tearfund WA Committee.

Graham Hall 
CPA,	B	Bus,	GAICD
Appointed: May 2017

Responsibilities: Assurance Committee Chair; 
Impact Investment Committee Member; 
Program Committee Member

Number of meetings attended: 5/5

Graham is a Non-Executive Director of a “for 
purpose” aged care organisation in NSW. 
Previously, he was the Corporate Strategy 
General Manager and the Corporate Services 
General Manager at a “for purpose” aged care 
and community development organisation.  
His experience includes Chief Financial Officer  
of a “for purpose” aged care organisation  
and a listed financial services organisation 
and prior as a senior finance executive in an 
international business.

Joanna Lee
BSc (Hons I), BA (Geography and 
Economics),	MSocSc(IntlDev)
Appointed: November 2017

Responsibilities:	Deputy	Chair;	Program	
Committee Chair; Australian Evangelical Alliance 
Foundation Representative

Number of meetings attended: 5/5

Joanna is the Operations Manager in the 
Church and Community Engagement team of 
Churches of Christ in Queensland, supporting 
their work with care services and churches. Her 
previous roles include environmental consulting 
at GHD Pty Ltd and three years volunteering 
with Family Impact, a Tearfund partner in 
Zimbabwe. Her skills and experience include 
project management, research, reporting and 
organisational operations. Joanna has been 
involved with Tearfund for many years, as a 
volunteer in the Melbourne office, as part of 
Tearfund groups in Melbourne and Brisbane and 
on a DEEP trip to Zimbabwe in 2013.

Jacinta Trang 
Doctor	of	Medicine	(MD)
Appointed: August 2022

Responsibilities: Assurance Committee

Number of meetings attended: 5/5

Jacinta graduated with a Doctor of Medicine 
in 2020 and is currently a Paediatric Physician 
Basic Trainee at The Children’s Hospital at 
Westmead in Sydney. She was previously a 
Tearfund Australia Ambassador in 2020. She 
is interested in paediatrics, public health, 
community development and integrating these 
areas with her faith.

Rev Dr Stephen Bevis 
Peter Snowsill

Outgoing Board members

Ruby Watters
BSW
Appointed: August 2021
Responsibilities: Program Committee
Number of meetings attended: 5/5
Ruby works as a Child Protection Caseworker 
with the Department of Communities and 
Justice (NSW). She completed a Bachelor of 
Social Work in 2020, with specific interest in 
both Development and Child Protection. She has 
volunteered as a social worker in a community 
development organisation in Indonesia and also 
within Tearfund’s Advocacy team.

Associate Board members
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The	Board	of	Tearfund	Australia	&	Controlled	
Entity declare that the accompanying  
concise	financial	report	is	presented	fairly	
in accordance with applicable Australian  
Accounting Standards and is consistent with 
the	Group’s	30	June	2023	financial	report.		In	
respect	to	the	30	June	2023	financial	report	
of	Tearfund	Australia	&	Controlled	Entity,	the	
Board declares that:

The	financial	report	statements	comply	with	
Accounting Standards and the requirements  
of the Australian Council for International 
Development	Code	of	Conduct	(ACFID).	

The summary reports have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements set out 
in	the	ACFID	Code	of	Conduct.	For	further	
information on the Code please refer to the 
ACFID	Code	of	Conduct	Implementation	
Guidance	available	at	www.acfid.asn.au.

The	financial	report	statements	give	a	true	and	
fair	view	of	the	financial	position	as	at	30	June	
2023 and performance of the Group for the 
year then ended; and in the Board’s opinion, 
there are reasonable grounds to believe that 
Tearfund	Australia	&	Controlled	Entity	is	able	
to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable. This statement has been made 
in accordance with a resolution of the Board 
made on 20 September 2023.

Joanna Lee Graham Hall 
Deputy	Chair	 Board	Member

Audit 
declaration
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Finance 
report

Reflecting	on	the	2022/23	financial	year,	we	are	truly	
thankful for the faithful partnership of our supporters and 
the Australian Government, which has allowed us to direct 
more resources towards our mission than in the previous 
year. This was achieved during a year marked by high 
inflation	and	cost	pressures,	not	just	in	Australia,	but	for	
our partners around the world as well. 

Income:
Total	donations	were	up	2%	on	the	previous	year,	mainly	
due to a strong response from our emergency appeals 
related	to	the	hunger	crisis	in	Africa	and	floods	in	Pakistan.		

The	Australian	Government	(DFAT)	grant	grew	by	10%	
compared to the previous year, which was well received 
after declines in grant funding over the past decade. 

Investment	income	reflects	the	market	value	movement	of	
Tearfund’s ethical investment portfolio. This portfolio has 
proven to provide sustainable, net-positive results, as can 
be seen from the gain of $0.5M in the current year.  

Bequests	and	Legacies	income	by	its	nature	fluctuates	
year-on-year and the amount received of $0.1M was down 
43%	on	the	previous	year.	

Tearfund’s	total	income	grew	by	9%	in	the	2022/23	year.	

Expenses:
Disbursements	to	Projects	and	Community	Education	
amounted	to	84%	of	our	expenditure,	Fundraising	costs	
were	9%	and	Administration	7%.	These	ratios	reflect	our	
strong	commitment	to	efficiency	whilst	balancing	the	
effectiveness of our funds being utilised.

Tearfund’s international and domestic program work was 
able	to	be	expanded	by	9%	due	to	the	growth	in	income.

Historical	surpluses	allowed	for	an	approved	overall	deficit	
of	$0.5M	in	the	financial	year.

Tearfund’s	total	expenditure	grew	by	7%	to	$16.2M.	

We are grateful for the resources we have been  
entrusted	with	over	the	past	financial	year	to	continue	
Tearfund’s mission.

Stephen Gunaratnam 
Chief Financial Officer
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Tearfund summary 
financial statements

The	following	account	classification	 
definitions	are	included	to	assist	in	 
reading	the	financial	reports:

Funds to International Programs
Funds invested into development and aid programs run by 
Tearfund’s implementing partners around the world.   

Domestic Program Expenditure
Support and funding for Tearfund’s First Peoples 
development program within the Australian Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities.

Program Support Costs
Expenses (including International Program staff salaries 
and travel costs) in overseeing the aid and development 
program. Investing in monitoring and evaluation helps 
ensure that Tearfund effectively use funds provided with 
the	aim	to	maximise	long-term	benefits	of	community	
development and relief work.

Community Education
Expenses relating to education work within Australia. This 
work includes advocacy campaigns, church engagement, 
events and the production and distribution of Tearfund’s 
educational resources.

Fundraising Costs
Expenses relating to maintaining and growing Tearfund’s 
financial	support.	The	costs	include	things	like	production	
of the Gift Catalogue and processing of orders/donations.

Accountability and Administration
Expenses	supporting	the	board,	executive,	finance,	
administration, people and culture, ITC, and customer 
service functions. 

The percentage for Projects and Community Education under 
Disbursements includes the Funds to International Programs 
(59%), Program Support Costs (10%), Domestic Program 
Expenditure (3%) and Community Education (12%).

5%

28%

67%

Percentages of total income for the financial year.

	 Donations	and	
Bequests

	 DFAT	grants

 Other income

Source of Income

2023

Percentages of total expenditure for the financial year.

7%
9%
84%

 Projects and  
Community Education 

 Fundraising

 Administration

Disbursements

2023
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2023

 2023 2022

ASSETS $ $

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,176,339 2,942,631

Trade and other receivables 104,589 112,256

Other assets 887,388 974,116

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 4,168,316 4,029,003

Non-Current Assets

Financial assets 5,600,104 6,026,412

Property, plant and equipment 5,019,819 4,785,860

Intangible assets 158,761 242,727

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 10,778,684 11,054,999

TOTAL ASSETS 14,947,000 15,084,002

LIABILITIES $ $

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 160,674 175,449

Provisions 933,322 925,287

Other current liabilities 	263,653  53,507

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,357,649 1,154,243

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 39,753 51,992

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 39,753 51,992

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,397,402 1,206,235

NET ASSETS 13,549,598 13,877,767

EQUITY $ $

Property revaluation reserve 2,991,310 2,750,599

Fixed assets and intangibles reserve 2,187,269 2,277,987

Foreign currency reserve 745,117 803,523

Designated	funds	reserve 107,995 220,000

Gifts in wills reserve - 87,319

Risk mitigation reserve 3,200,000 2,700,000

Unrestricted funds reserve 3,127,303 -

Impact investments reserve 190,604 -

Cashflow	reserve 1,000,000 -

Committed funds reserve  -    5,038,339   

TOTAL EQUITY 13,549,598 13,877,767

See the summary on page 20 for an explanation of the account categories.

 2023 2022
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 2023 2022

REVENUE $ $

Operating activities

Donations	and	gifts

Monetary 10,348,081 10,126,980

Non-monetary 85,100 100,008

Bequests and legacies 146,799 257,199

Grants

Department	of	Foreign	Affairs	&	Trade 4,353,954 3,974,567

Other overseas 125,426 83,018

Other grant income 82,719 -

Other income 65,256 39,697

Non-operating activities

Investment income/(loss) 459,556 (205,424)

TOTAL REVENUE 15,666,891 14,376,045

EXPENDITURE $ $

International Aid and Development Program Expenditure

International programs

Funds to international programs 9,477,558 8,892,820

Program support costs 1,649,483 1,404,318

Domestic	program	expenditure 433,687 318,542

Community education 1,989,572 1,908,989

Fundraising costs

Public 1,422,884 1,442,685

Government, multilateral and private 20,300 20,130

Accountability and administration 1,098,781 998,956

Non-monetary expenditure 85,100 100,008

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 16,177,365 15,086,448

EXCESS/(SHORTFALL) OF REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURE (510,474) (710,403)

Other Comprehensive Income 182,305 1,226,693

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year (328,169) 516,290

Statement of Income and Expenditure  
and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2023

No	individual	project	received	greater	than	10%	of	the	international	aid	and	development	revenue	earned	during	the	financial	year.	 
See the summary on page 20 for an explanation of the account categories.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2023

Property 
Revaluation 

Reserve $

Foreign  
Currency  
Reserve $

Retained  
Surplus $

Other  
Reserves Total $

Balance at  
1 July 2022  2,750,599 803,523 - 10,323,645 13,877,767

Comprehensive 
income

Surplus	(deficit)  -    -   (510,474) - (510,474)

Other comprehensive 
income for the year

Net unrealised gains/
(losses) on foreign 
exchange contracts

 -   (58,406)  -    -   (58,406)

Revaluation 
increment/
(decrement)

240,711 240,711

Total comprehensive  
income for the year 240,711 (58,406) (510,474) 0 (328,169)

Transfers to and  
from reserves  -    -   510,474 (510,474)  - 

BALANCE AT  
30 JUNE 2023 2,991,310 745,117  -    9,813,171   13,549,598

Laos

Photo: Phakhinda (Mina) 
Khanthavilay
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Tearfund is a member of the Integral Alliance, which is 
made up of 20 Christian relief and development agencies, 
united in their vision to alleviate suffering and restore hope 
in disasters. Collectively Integral Alliance members are 
involved in more than 85 countries, both implementing 
directly and working through over 540 local partners.  
See: integralalliance.org

Tearfund Australia is a registered charity with the 
Australian	Charities	and	Not-for-profits	Commission	
(ACNC), the independent national regulator of charities. 
See: acnc.gov.au

Tearfund is a signatory to the Charter4Change and has 
committed to maximise humanitarian funding directed  
to	local	or	national	NGOs.	Of	the	total	$2,609,552	sent	to	
partners	for	humanitarian	responses,	$1,086,977	or	42%	
was sent directly to local partner organisations.

  
Feedback

We welcome your feedback about us and our work. Should 
you wish to lodge a complaint, please note that Tearfund 
Australia has a process for handling such complaints. Should 
you wish to read our complaints policy, lodge a complaint or 
give any feedback, please email feedback@tearfund.org.au 
or	phone	(03)	9264	7000	or	via	tearfund.org.au/feedback

  
Safeguarding

Tearfund prioritises the protection of adults at risk and 
children in all of our work. For the last 12 years, Tearfund has 
undertaken an annual organisation-wide risk assessment 
of activities as they relate to safeguarding adults at risk and 
children.	The	assessment	covers	DFAT	standards	for	both	
safeguarding and the prevention of sexual exploitation, abuse 
and harassment (PSEAH). As of 2023, it now includes the new 
Victorian Child Safe Standards. Tearfund has committed to 
complying with the highest national safeguarding standards. 
Over the past year this included completing several pieces of 
work to further strengthen our safeguarding systems. We will 
continue to review and improve our systems into the future. 
See: tearfund.org.au/about/our-policies.

Memberships, 
Accountability & 
Accreditations

       

Tearfund Australia is an accredited partner with the 
Australian	Department	of	Foreign	Affairs	and	Trade	(DFAT),	
which is responsible for managing Australia’s development 
program. To maintain accreditation, Tearfund Australia’s 
systems, policies and processes are rigorously reviewed 
by the Australian Government. Tearfund receives support 
through the Australian NGO Cooperation Program (ANCP). 
We	thank	DFAT	for	its	continued	support	of	Tearfund’s	
work. See: dfat.gov.au

Tearfund Australia is a member of Australian Council 
for	International	Development	(ACFID)	and	committed	
to full adherence to its Code of Conduct. Tearfund also 
participates	in	a	number	of	ACFID’s	Communities	of	
Practice that provide a means for members to come 
together to share, learn, collaborate and advocate around 
international development and justice issues, as well as 
the Public Engagement Campaign Coalition. Complaints 
regarding	a	breach	of	the	ACFID	Code	of	Conduct	can	be	
directed	to	ACFID	via	email	at	code@acfid.asn.au.	For	
further	details,	see:	acfid.asn.au/content/complaint
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Tearfund Australia is a founding member of Micah Global, 
a	community	of	over	250	members	across	more	than	65	
countries, networking Christian organisations, alliances 
and individuals. Micah Global serves to motivate and equip 
the global community, embracing and practising integral 
mission. See: micahglobal.org 

Tearfund is a founding member of Renew Our World, 
a global movement of Christians praying, living and 
campaigning to make the world fair and sustainable, 
bringing God’s kingdom closer, so that everyone, 
everywhere can enjoy fullness of life. Tearfund leads 
Renew Our World in Australia. See: renewourworld.org.au

Tearfund is a member of the EA (originally Evangelical 
Alliance)	Foundation,	which	is	affiliated	with	the	World	
Evangelical Alliance, an international body representing 
more	than	600	million	Christians	in	143	countries.	Other	
members of the Australian EA family are Ethos - EA Centre 
for	Christianity	&	Society,	EA	Insurance,	Missions	Interlink	
and Christian Ministry Advancement Ltd. See: ea.org.au

Tearfund is an organisational member of the Fundraising 
Institute Australia (FIA). FIA provides sector standards and 
guidance, including professional development, to achieve 
ethical best-practice fundraising. Through this membership, 
Tearfund can access the latest information on regulatory 
issues,	and	has	the	opportunity	to	influence	and	work	
with the peak fundraising body on issues that impact 
our sector. Tearfund complies with the FIA Code, a set of 
ethical best practice guidelines to ensure transparency and 
accountability	for	professional	fundraising.	See:	fia.org.au

Tearfund Australia is an organisation fully accredited 
with the CMA Standards Council. Through commitment 
and compliance to these standards, Tearfund Australia 
achieves excellence in the areas of governance, leadership, 
financial	oversight,	risk	management,	transparency,	
accountability and stewardship. See: cmasc.net.au

Tearfund is a member of the CHS Alliance, a global 
alliance of humanitarian and development organisations 
committed to making aid work better for people, and 
strengthening accountability to the people we serve. In 
2021	Tearfund	was	awarded	verification	against	the	Core	
Humanitarian Standard through a formal self-assessment 
process. See: chsalliance.org

Tearfund is proud to be a founding member of the 
Emergency Action Alliance, a coalition of Australia-based 
charities able to rapidly assist when disaster strikes 
overseas. Launched in 2021, the alliance brings together 
15 Australian charities who will unite in their campaign 
and fundraising efforts to improve how Australians can 
support and donate when large scale overseas humanitarian 
disasters take place. See: emergencyaction.org.au

Through Micah Australia, Tearfund stands together with 
other Christians in Australia raising a powerful voice for 
justice and for a world free from poverty. In prayer, biblical 
reflection	and	faithful	action,	we	are	helping	shape	a	
more just world. As a coalition member, we actively shape 
policies, engage in advocacy moments such as the Help 
Fight Famine campaign, and participate in events such as 
the	Pacific	Australian	Emerging	Leaders	Summit	and	Micah	
Women Leaders Network. See: micahaustralia.org

Tearfund Australia

We’re working in 
partnership with local 
Christian agencies to 
end poverty, challenge 
inequality and build 
sustainable communities. 
Following Jesus, we 
go where the need is 
greatest, acting with 
courage to tackle 
injustice so that all may 
experience fullness of life.
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Thank you
to all our supporters. Together, we work 
towards a more just and sustainable 
world, in which all people are able to 
achieve fullness of life.

tearfund.org.au  |  usefulgifts.org

Working in partnership to end poverty

Tearfund is accredited by the Australian Department 
of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT), responsible for 
managing the Australian Government’s development 
program. Tearfund receives support through the 
Australian NGO Cooperation Program (ANCP).

South Sudan
Tearfund supports partners around the world to promote sustainable farming and 
equip farmers with seeds, tools, techniques and resources to help them cope with an 
increasingly unpredictable climate. Jason is the secretary of a farmers’ group facilitated 
by Tearfund’s partner Sudan Evangelical Mission. He says that working alone is a lot of 
work,	but	in	a	group	you	can	get	much	more	done.	He’s	confident	that	the	skills	and	
knowledge the group members have gained with support from Tearfund’s partner will 
serve them well in the longer term.
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity 

The Directors submit the financial report of Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity (the Group) for the financial year ended 30 June 2023.

The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are:
Stephen Bevis Resigned November 2022
Douglas Crocket
Graham Hall
Hannah Kallady
Joanna Lee (Deputy Chair)
Peter Lochore
Sarah Mateljan
Matthew Maury (CEO)
Peter Snowsill Resigned November 2022
Joanna Watts (Chair)

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Group during the financial year were responding to poverty and injustice around the world.

Short-term and Long-term objectives
The Group's short-term objectives are to:

• Partner with local Christian partners to overcome poverty and injustice through the support of local community development projects;
• Inform, challenge and empower Australian Christians to respond in biblically shaped ways to poverty and injustice;
• Advocate to change systems which perpetuate poverty and injustice issues.

The Group's long-term objectives are to:
• Eliminate poverty and injustice in partner communities around the world;
• Mobilise Australian Christians to live more justly and sustainably.

Strategies
To achieve its stated objectives the Group has adopted the following strategies:

• Working with Christian partners to implement development projects;
• Working with advocacy coalitions focused on achieving policy change on poverty and justice issues;
• Working for climate justice through supporter engagement and advocacy (political and corporate);
• Various supporter education and mobilisation strategies targeting Australian Christians;
• Multiple fundraising and awareness campaigns and initiatives;
• Church engagement work.

Key Performance Measures
The Group measures its own performance through the use of both quantitative and qualitative benchmarks. 
These benchmarks are used by the directors to assess the financial sustainability of the company and whether the company's short-term and 
long-term objectives are being achieved:

• Project by project outcomes and impact indicators - covering water, health, income, education, food security;
• Donations and income raised to support poverty alleviation projects;
• Number of supporters involved with advocacy campaigns;
• Number of churches engaged with Tearfund Australia's work;
• Number of Tearfund Groups active across Australia.

Directors' Report
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity 
Information on Directors

Stephen Bevis (resigned Nov 2022)
Qualifications BA, PhD
Experience

Special Responsibilities Program Committee member

Douglas Crocket
Qualifications BE (Electrical)
Experience

Special Responsibilities  Impact Investment Committee Chair, Assurance Committee member

Graham Hall
Qualifications B. Bus, CPA, GAICD
Experience

Special Responsibilities Assurance Committee Chair, Impact Investment Committee member, Program Committee member

Hannah Kallady
Qualifications BA, M Jnl
Experience

Special Responsibilities Governance Committee member, Membership Committee member

Joanna Lee
Qualifications BSc (Hons I), BA (Geography and Economics), MSocSc (IntlDev)
Experience

Special Responsibilities Deputy Chair, Program Committee Chair, Evangelical Alliance Foundation Representative

Peter Lochore
Qualifications BA, LLB (1st Hons), Grad Dip Bus Law, LLM, CertGovNFP
Experience

Special Responsibilities Governance Committee Chair, Membership Committee Chair

Sarah Mateljan
Qualifications Bachelor of Laws (Merit Honours), Bachelor of Psychology
Experience

Special Responsibilities Program Committee member, Impact Investment Committee member

Matthew Maury 
Qualifications BA (Hons), MBA (Dev Studies), GAICD
Experience

Special Responsibilities

Board Member since November 2018. Senior Product Consultant at Australians Together. Previously Senior 
Strategy Advisor at ntegrity, a leading digital strategy agency.

Board Member since Nov 2017. Operations Manager within Churches of Christ in Queensland. Previously 
GHD Environmental Consultant, Micah Global Assistant and Tearfund Associate Fieldworker.

Board Member since November 2018. Independent barrister and experienced dispute-resolution lawyer with 
a public (government) law background. His practice is across public, civil and commercial law.

Board Member since 2009. Tearfund Australia's CEO. Over 30 years experience with Christian 
development agencies working across Africa, Asia-Pacific, Latin America and the Middle East. 
Member of Assurance, Governance and Membership Committees

Board Member since November 2018. Director of Master of Transformational Development at Eastern 
College in Victoria. Previously, Minister of John Flynn Memorial Uniting Church in Alice Springs.

Board member since November 2019. Extensive operational and strategic leadership in various sectors 
including NFP. Previous Administrator for the St Hilary’s Network Anglican Church.

Board Member since May 2017. Non-Executive Director of aged care organisation. Previously General 
Manager, Corporate Strategy for an aged care organisation and Chief Financial Officer of an aged care 
organisation and a listed financial services organisation.

Board Member since November 2020. Co-founder and CEO of two tech start-ups and previous 
Tearfund Fieldworker in Afghanistan.
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity 
Information on Directors (continued)

Peter Snowsill (resigned Nov 2022)
Qualifications BE (Hons), MAICD
Experience

Special Responsibilities Assurance Committee member

Joanna Watts
Qualifications BA (Hons), PG Cert (Higher Education Administration)
Experience

Special Responsibilities Chair, Governance Committee member, Membership Committee member

Meetings of Directors
During the financial year 5  meetings of directors were held. Attendances of each director were as follows:

Stephen Bevis

Graham Hall
Hannah Kallady
Joanna Lee (Deputy Chair)
Peter Lochore
Sarah Mateljan
Matthew Maury
Peter Snowsill 
Joanna Watts (Chair)

Members Guarantee
The Company was incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 on 12 December 2012 as a company limited by guarantee. If the Company is 
wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $1 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations
of the entity. At 30 June 2023 the total amount that members of the Company are liable to contribute if the company is wound up is $123 (2022:$127).

Auditors Independence Declaration
The auditors independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2023 has been received and can be found on page 4 of the financial report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Members of the Board:

Board member: ………………………………………………………………………..
Joanna Lee (Deputy Chair)

Board member: ………………………………………………………………………..
Graham Hall (Assurance Committee Chair)

Dated:

4 5

5 5

5 5
3 3

4 5
5 5
5 5

Board member since 2015. CEO for an ASX-listed manufacturing technology company. Chemical 
engineering background with governance, management and project expertise across various sectors.  

5 5

Board member since 2015. Senior Director of Operations in the University of Melbourne Advancement 
Office. Former Associate Director of Services and Support at La Trobe University. 

Name Number attended Number eligible to attended
2 3

Douglas Crocket 5 5
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20 Albert St, Blackburn VIC 3130
T +61 3 9894 2500 F +61 3 9894 1622
contact@sawarddawson.com.au
sawarddawson.com.au Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Member of Russell Bedford International

Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity
Auditor's Independence Declaration under Section 60.40 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012 to the Directors of Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the financial year ended 30 June 2023, there have been:

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commissions Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Saward Dawson

Jeffrey Tulk
Partner
Date: 28 September 2023

Blackburn, VIC
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity
ABN: 85 085 413 832

Statement of Income and Expenditure and Other Comprehensive Income
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023 

2023
$

2022
$

REVENUE

Operating Activities

Donations and gifts
  - Monetary 10,348,081 10,126,980
  - Non monetary 16 85,100 100,008
Bequests and legacies 146,799 257,199
DFAT grants 4,353,954 3,974,567
Other overseas grants 125,426 83,018
Other grant income 82,719 -
Other income 4 65,256 39,697

Non-operating Activities
Investment income/(loss) 459,556 (205,424)

Total Revenue 15,666,891 14,376,045

EXPENSES
Funds to international programs (9,477,558) (8,892,820)
Domestic programs expenditure (433,687) (318,542)
Program support costs (1,649,483) (1,404,318)
Community education (1,989,572) (1,908,989)

Fundraising costs
  - Public (1,422,884) (1,442,685)
  - Government (20,300) (20,130)
Accountability and administration (1,098,781) (998,956)
Non-monetary expenditure 16 (85,100) (100,008)

Total Expenditure (16,177,365) (15,086,448)
Surplus/(deficit) for the year (510,474) (710,403)

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
   - Net gains/(losses) on revaluation of property 240,711 -

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific
conditions are met

   - Net movements in unrealised gain/(Loss) on foreign exchange contracts (58,406) 1,226,693

Other comprehensive income 182,305 1,226,693
Total comprehensive income for the year (328,169) 516,290

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity
Statement of Financial Position
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023

Note
2023

$
2022

$

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 3,176,339 2,942,631
Trade and other receivables 6 104,589 112,256
Other assets 10 887,388 974,116

Total current assets 4,168,316 4,029,003

Non-current assets
Financial assets 7 5,600,104 6,026,412
Property, plant and equipment 8 5,019,819 4,785,860
Intangible assets 9 158,761 242,727

Total non-current assets 10,778,684 11,054,999

TOTAL ASSETS 14,947,000 15,084,002

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 12 160,674 175,449
Short-term provisions 13 933,322 925,287
Other current liabilities 14 263,653 53,507

Total current liabilities 1,357,649 1,154,243

Non-current liabilities
Other long-term provisions 13 39,753 51,992

Total non-current liabilities 39,753 51,992

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,397,402 1,206,235

NET ASSETS 13,549,598 13,877,767

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity
Statement of Financial Position
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023

Note
2023

$
2022

$

EQUITY
Property Revaluation Reserve 15 2,991,310 2,750,599
Fixed Assets and Intangibles Reserve 15 2,187,269 2,277,987
Foreign Currency Reserve 15 745,117 803,523
Designated Funds Reserve 15 107,995 220,000
Gifts in Wills Reserve 15 - 87,319
Risk Mitigation Reserve 15 3,200,000 2,700,000
Unrestricted Funds Reserve 15 3,127,303 -
Impact Investments Reserve 15 190,604 -
Cashflow Reserve 15 1,000,000 -
Committed Funds Reserve 15 - 5,038,339

TOTAL EQUITY 13,549,598 13,877,767

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity
ABN: 85 085 413 832

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023

2023

Property
Revaluation

Reserve
$

Foreign
Currency
Reserve

$

Retained
Surpluses

$

Other Reserves

(note 15)
$ Total

Balance at 1 July 2022 2,750,599 803,523 - 10,323,645 13,877,767

Comprehensive income
Deficit for the year - - (510,474) - (510,474)

Other comprehensive income for the year
Net unrealised gains on Foreign Exchange Contracts - (58,406) - - (58,406)
Revaluation increment/(decrement) 240,711 - - - 240,711

 2,991,310 745,117 (510,474) 10,323,645 13,549,598
Transfers to and from reserves - - 510,474 (510,474) -

Balance at 30 June 2023 2,991,310 745,117 - 9,813,171 13,549,598

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity
ABN: 85 085 413 832

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023

2022

Property
Revaluation

Reserve
$

Foreign
Currency
Reserve

$

Retained
Surpluses

$

Other

Reserves

(note 15)
$ Total

Balance at 1 July 2021 2,750,599 (423,170) - 11,034,048 13,361,477

Comprehensive income
Deficit for the year - - (710,403) - (710,403)

Other comprehensive income for the year
Net unrealised gains on Foreign Exchange Contracts - 1,226,693 - - 1,226,693

 2,750,599 803,523 (710,403) 11,034,048 13,877,767
Transfers to and from reserves - - 710,403 (710,403) -

Balance at 30 June 2022 2,750,599 803,523 - 10,323,645 13,877,767

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity
ABN: 85 085 413 832

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Financial Ended 30 June 2023

Note
2023

$
2022

$

CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Donations received 10,348,081 10,126,980
Bequests and legacies received 146,799 257,199
Operating grants received 5,208,003 4,393,942
Other income received 184,863 65,443
Payments to suppliers and employees (6,736,163) (6,189,423)
Distribution to overseas and domestic project partners (9,773,051) (9,097,969)
Interest and dividends received 74,758 177,132
Net cash provided by (used by) operating activities (546,710) (266,696)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds for investments 907,589 410,277
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and intangibles (30,003) (131,152)
Impact Investments - proceeds from repayments 11,024 -
Impact Investments - payments (108,192) -
Net cash provided by (used by) investing activities 780,418 279,125

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents held 233,708 12,429
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,942,631 2,930,202
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 5 3,176,339 2,942,631

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity 
ABN: 85 085 413 832

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

(a) Basis of Preparation 

The financial report covers Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity as a consolidated group Tearfund Australia is a company limited
by guarantee established under the Corporations Act 2001, and is registered and domiciled in Australia.

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012. The Group is
a not-for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.  

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in financial statements
containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise. 

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on
historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and
financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

These financial statements are presented in Australian Dollars, which is the Group's functional currency.

The financial statements were authorised for issue on the same date that the directors’ declaration was signed. 

(b) Basis for Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial position and performance of controlled entities from the date on which
control is obtained until the date that control is lost.

Controlled entities are all entities over which the parent has control. Control is established when the parent is exposed to, or has
rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
relevant activities from the entity.

Intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between entities in the consolidated
entity have been eliminated in full for the purpose of these financial statements.

Appropriated adjustments have been made to a controlled entity's financial position, performance and cash flows where the
accounting policies used by that entity were different from those adopted by the consolidated entity. All controlled entities have a
June financial year end.

(c) Australian Council for International Development  

The Group is a registered member with the Australian Council for International Development (ACFID) and the financial statements
are prepared in accordance with the requirements set out in the ACFID code of conduct. For further information on the Code
please refer to the ACFID Code of Conduct Implementation Guide available at www.acfid.asn.au.

(d) Income Tax 

No current or deferred income tax assets or liabilities have been raised by the Group as it is exempt from income tax under Division
50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. Tearfund Australia is a registered charity under the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012.
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity 
ABN: 85 085 413 832

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Freehold property

Freehold land and buildings are shown at their fair value based on periodic, but at least triennial, valuations by external
independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.

In periods when the freehold land and buildings are not subject to an independent valuation, the directors will conduct an
assessment to ensure the carrying amount for the land and buildings is not materially different to the fair value.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the property revaluation reserve in equity. Revaluation decreases that offset previous increases of the same class
of assets shall be recognised in other comprehensive income under the heading of revaluation surplus. All other decreases are
recognised in income or expenditure.

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the
net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Freehold land and buildings that have been contributed at no cost, or for nominal cost, are initially recognised and measured at the
fair value of the asset at the date it is acquired.

Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount, the carrying amount is written down immediately to its estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses recognised in
the statement of income and expenditure.

A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present.

Plant and Equipment contributed at no or nominal cost are valued and recognised at the fair value of the asset on the date it was
acquired.

Depreciation 

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets (excluding freehold land), is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset's useful
life commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either
the unexpired period of the lease or estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:
Buildings 2.5%
Office furniture and equipment 17%
Computer systems 34%

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting period.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses are
included in the Statement of Income and Expenditure and Other Comprehensive Income. When revalued assets are sold, amounts
included in the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained surpluses.
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity 
ABN: 85 085 413 832

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e) Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Revaluation Model  

Assets measured using the revaluation model are carried at fair value at the revaluation date less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Revaluations are performed whenever there is a material movement in the value of an asset
under the revaluation model.

(f) Leases 

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a lease exists - i.e. does the contract convey the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

This involves an assessment of whether:

The contract involves the use of an identified asset - this may be explicitly or implicitly identified within the agreement.  If
the supplier has a substantive substitution right then there is no identified asset;

The Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset throughout the
period of use;

The Group has the right to direct the use of the asset i.e. decision making rights in relation to changing how and for what
purpose the asset is used.

At the lease commencement, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and associated lease liability for the lease term.  The lease
term includes extension periods where the Group believes it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised.

The right-of-use asset is measured using the cost model where cost on initial recognition comprises of the lease liability, initial
direct costs, prepaid lease payments, estimated cost of removal and restoration less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the lease term on a straight line basis and assessed for impairment in accordance with
the impairment of assets accounting policy.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments at the commencement of the lease.
The discount rate is the rate implicit in the lease, however where this cannot be readily determined then the Group's incremental
borrowing rate is used.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  The
lease liability is remeasured whether there is a lease modification, change in estimate of the lease term or index upon which the
lease payments are based (e.g. CPI) or a change in the Group's assessment of lease term.

Where the lease liability is remeasured, the right-of-use asset is adjusted to reflect the remeasurement or is recorded in income
and expenditure if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Leases with a term of 12 months or less or leases of low value underlying assets will be exempted from the accounting treatment
above. The Group recognises the payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity 
ABN: 85 085 413 832

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(g) Financial instruments 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions to the
instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the Group commits itself to either purchase or sell the asset (i.e.
trade date accounting is adopted). Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs, except where
the instrument is classified “at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVTPL)” in which case transaction costs are recognised
immediately as expenses in the Statement of Income and Expenditure and Other Comprehensive Income.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair value. Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Where available,
quoted prices in an active market are used to determine fair value.

The classification of financial instruments depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and at the end of each reporting period for held-to-maturity
assets.

(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Loans and receivables are included in current assets, except for those which are not expected to mature within 12 months after the
end of the reporting year.

Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition less
principal repayments and any reduction for impairment, and adjusted for any cumulative amortisation of the difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method.

(ii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than 'hold to collect and sell' are categorised at fair value
through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest are accounted for at fair value through profit or loss. All derivative financial instruments fall into
this category, except for those designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which hedging accounting requirements apply. 

(iii) Financial liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method.

(iv) Fair value

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are applied to determine the
fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing
models.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. 
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity 
ABN: 85 085 413 832

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(g) Financial instruments (continued)  

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expire or the asset is transferred to another
party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the related obligations are discharged or cancelled, or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability, which is extinguished or transferred to another party, and the fair value of
consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in income or expenditure.

(h) Intangibles 

Patents and trademarks 

Patents and trademarks are recognised at cost of acquisition. Patents and trademarks have a finite life and are carried at cost less
any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Patents and trademarks are amortised over their useful life. The
amortisation rate for Justice Conference Rights is 33%.

Software 

Software has a finite life and is carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The amortisation rate for
computer software is 17% - 25%.

(i) Employee Benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Provision is made for the Group’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits are benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in
which the employees render the related service, including wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave. Short-term employee
benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled.

Long-term employee benefits 

The Group’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current liabilities in its statement of financial
position, except where the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of
the reporting period, in which case the obligations are presented as current liabilities. The Group classifies employees’ long service
leave entitlements as other long-term employee benefits as they are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service. Provision is made for the Group’s obligation
for other long-term employee benefits, which are measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made to
employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee
departures, and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on bonds that
have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the obligations. Upon the remeasurement of obligations for other long-term
employee benefits, the net change in the obligation is recognised in income or expenditure classified under employee benefits
expense.
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity 
ABN: 85 085 413 832

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(i) Employee Benefits (continued) 

Defined contribution superannuation benefits  

All employees of the Group receive defined contribution superannuation entitlements, for which the Group pays the fixed
superannuation contributions (currently 12% of the employee’s average ordinary salary) to the employee’s superannuation fund of
choice. All contributions in respect of employees’ defined contribution entitlements are recognised as an expense when they
become payable. The Group’s obligation with respect to employees’ defined contribution entitlements is limited to its obligation for
any unpaid superannuation contributions at the end of the reporting period. All obligations for unpaid superannuation contributions
are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled and are presented as current
liabilities in the Group’s Statement of Financial Position. 

(j) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held-at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.  

(k) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which
are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or
payments to suppliers.

(l) Revenue and Other Income 

When the Group receives operating grant revenue, donations or bequests, it assesses whether the contract is enforceable and has
sufficiently specific performance obligations in accordance to AASB 15.

When both these conditions are satisfied, the Group :

identifies each performance obligation relating to the grant;

recognises a contract liability for its obligations under the agreement; and

recognises revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations.

Where the contract is not enforceable or does not have sufficiently specific performance obligations, the Group:

recognises the asset receivable in accordance with the recognition requirements of other applicable Accounting
Standards (AASB 9, AASB 16, AASB 116 and AASB 138);

recognises related amounts (being contributions by owners, lease liability, financial instruments, provisions, revenue or
contract liability arising from a contract with a customer); 

recognises income immediately in income or expenditure as the difference between the initial carrying amount of the
asset and the related amount; and

identifies each performance obligation relating to the grant.

Revenue from Government grants is recognised on the basis that the transfer of promised goods or services to customers at an
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(l) Revenue and Other Income (continued)
amount that reflects the consideration expected to be received to be received in exchange for those goods or services. Each
agreement is analysed to determine the revenue recognition in accordance with the five step model. Where revenue is recognised
over time, recognition is based on directly related expenditure or hours incurred. Where performance obligations have not been
met, remaining amounts will be recognised as unearned income.

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method, which for floating rate financial assets is the rate inherent in the
instrument. Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established.

Volunteer services income is recognised when received, and when the fair value of those services can be reliably measured. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

(m) Trade payables 

Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the Group during the reporting period that
remain unpaid at the end of the reporting period. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid
within 30 days of recognition of the liability.

(n) Foreign exchange gains/losses 

The Group incurred gains and losses on foreign exchange through both the revaluation of foreign currencies held as assets at 30
June 2023 and on payments made in foreign currency. All realised gains or losses are recorded in the Statement of Income and
Expenditure and Other Comprehensive Income at date of transaction, gains or losses on assets held are recorded as an income or
expense transactions are included respectively as a reduction or increase in the transaction value item, gains or losses on and
accounted for with the original transaction.

The Group uses forward purchasing contracts to assist with planning overseas commitment levels and to hedge against currency
fluctuations.

The unrealised gains or losses on open contracts at year end are held in equity reserves.

(o) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements  

The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on historical knowledge and
best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends
and economic data, obtained both externally and within the entity.

Key estimates

Valuation of freehold land and buildings

The freehold land and buildings were last independently valued by a person who is a Certified Property & Specialist Retail Valuer at
30 June 2023 by Tearfund Australia. The valuation was based on the fair value less costs of disposal. The critical assumptions
adopted in determining the valuation included the location of the land and buildings and recent sales data for similar properties.
The valuation resulted in a revaluation increment of $240,711 being recognised for the year ended 30 June 2023.

The directors have reviewed the key assumptions adopted by the valuers and therefore believe the carrying amount of the land
correctly reflects the fair value less costs of disposal at 30 June 2023.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(o) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements  (continued)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

As described in Note 1(e), the Entity reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each annual
reporting period.

Key judgements

Performance obligations under AASB 15

To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently specific to be able to determine when the
obligation is satisfied. Management exercises judgement to determine whether the promise is sufficiently specific by taking into
account any conditions specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicit, regarding the promised goods or services. In making this
assessment, management includes the nature/ type, cost/ value, quantity and the period of transfer related to the goods or services
promised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023

2 Key Management Personnel Disclosures 

Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or
indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity is considered key management personnel. 

The Key Management Personnel during the year were:

Matthew Maury        Chief Executive Officer
Paul Flavel - to 10 February 2023         Australian Program Director
Greg Hewson - commenced 20 February 2023 Australian Program Director
Mary Gaitho International Program Director
Karen Naylor (0.6 FTE) People and Culture Director
Stephen Gunaratnam  Chief Financial Officer
Kate Edmeades (0.7 FTE) Digital Services Director

The Key Management Personnel during the year ended 30 June 2022 were:

Matthew Maury Chief Executive Officer
James Burnet - ceased May 2021 Former Chief Financial Officer 
Ashley Humphreys Finance Director
Paul Flavel Australian Program Director
Jo Knight (0.7 FTE) - to July 2021 Advocacy Director
Kelly Rae (0.6 FTE) - to July 2021 South Asia Regional Team Leader 
Phil Wilkerson International Program Director
Karen Naylor (0.6 FTE) People and Culture Director
Stephen Gunaratnam - commenced April 2021 Financial Operations & Supporter Services Director
Kate Edmeades - commenced April 2021        Digital Services Director

The total remuneration paid to key management personnel of the Group is $ 840,669 (2022: $ 968,482).

3 Expenses   

The surplus/(deficit) for the year includes: 

2023
$

2022
$

Employee benefits expense (excluding super) 4,010,531 3,894,838
Superannuation 460,552 445,237
Depreciation and amortisation 119,368 128,639

Auditors' Remuneration:
   Audit of the financial statements 17,000 16,100
   Preparation of the financial statements 1,400 1,400
   Other 4,500 4,500

4 Other Income 
Justice Conference income 33,185 4,174
Other income 32,071 35,523

65,256 39,697
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5 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

2023
$

2022
$

Cash on hand 2,440 4,609
Cash at bank 2,243,031 2,611,613
Cash holdings in investment portfolio 930,868 326,409

Total cash and cash equivalents 3,176,339 2,942,631

      
        The company has an overdraft facility with Westpac Banking Corporation with a facility limit of $300,000 of which $nil has
been 
        drawn during the year and the balance at year end is $nil (2022: $nil). 

        The overdraft facility is secured by a registered mortgage of the  property at 4 Solwood Lane, Blackburn VIC 3130.

6 Trade and other receivables 

CURRENT
Interest and dividends 81,106 80,301
Other receivables - 1,132
GST receivable 23,483 30,823

Total receivables 104,589 112,256

Credit risk 

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty or group of counterparties. There
are no indicators of impairment on receivables at year end and no provision for doubtful debts has been raised.

7 Financial Assets 

NON-CURRENT

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Australian and international equities (a) 1,564,213 1,529,596
Other Investments (a) 3,845,287 4,403,380

Financial assets at amortised cost
Loans (Impact Investments) 190,604 93,436
Total non-current assets 5,600,104 6,026,412

(a)  These investments are managed by an external financial advisor. Cash holdings in the investment portfolio amounting to 
      $930,868 are disclosed under cash and cash equivalents. 
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8 Property, Plant and Equipment 

2023
$

2022
$

Freehold land & building
At independent valuation 5,010,685 4,800,000
Accumulated depreciation (10,628) (40,639)

Total land and buildings 5,000,057 4,759,361

Office furniture and equipment
At cost 125,266 125,266
Accumulated depreciation (125,266) (125,266)

Total office equipment - -

Computer Equipment
At cost 284,995 274,009
Accumulated depreciation (265,233) (247,510)

Total computer equipment 19,762 26,499

Total property, plant and equipment 5,019,819 4,785,860

Movements in Carrying Amounts 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of the
current financial year:

Land and
Buildings

$

Office furniture
and equipment

$

Computer
Equipment

$
Total

$
Carrying amount as at 1 July 2022 4,759,361 - 26,499 4,785,860
Additions 17,663 - 12,339 30,002
Disposals - - (1,352) (1,352)
Depreciation expense (17,678) - (17,724) (35,402)
Revaluation increase 240,711 - - 240,711

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2023 5,000,057 - 19,762 5,019,819
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9 Intangible Assets 

2023
$

2022
$

Justice Conference Rights
At cost 39,258 39,258
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (39,258) (31,674)

Total Justice Conference rights - 7,584

Computer Software
At cost 505,171 505,171
Accumulated amortisation (346,410) (270,028)

Total computer software 158,761 235,143

Total intangible assets 158,761 242,727

Movements in carrying amounts of intangible assets  

Justice
Conference

Rights
$

Computer
Software

$
Total

$
Carrying amount as at 1 July 2022 7,584 235,143 242,727
Amortisation (7,584) (76,382) (83,966)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2023 - 158,761 158,761

10 Other Assets 

CURRENT
Prepayments 142,271 170,593
Unrealised foreign currency gains 745,117 803,523

887,388 974,116

Unrealised foreign currency gains/losses

The Group forward purchases US dollars and at balance date has open contracts requiring revaluation at year end. In the 2023
financial year the Australian dollar movement resulted in unrealised gains on foreign currency contracts which are recorded in
Other Assets.
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11 Leases 

Amounts recognised in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income  

Expenses related to leases for 12 months of less is considered short term, and expenses which are less than $10,000 is
considered low value.

2023
$

2022
$

Expenses relating to short term leases 23,771 10,336
Expenses relating to low value leases 16,200 11,500

12 Trade and other payables 

CURRENT
Trade and other payables 100,324 125,500
PAYG Payable 60,350 49,949

160,674 175,449

13 Provisions 

CURRENT
Employee benefits 933,322 925,287

933,322 925,287

 NON-CURRENT
 Employee benefits 39,753 51,992

39,753 51,992

14 Other Liabilities 

CURRENT
Unearned grant income 263,653 53,144
Other unearned income - 363

263,653 53,507
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15 Reserves 

Property Revaluation Reserve

The Property Revaluation Reserve records the revaluations of non-current assets. Where revaluations are deemed to represent
profits of a permanent nature, amounts may be shifted to the income statement.

Fixed Assets and Intangibles Reserve

The Fixed Asset and Intangibles Reserve represents the net book value of Tearfund Australia’s intangible and tangible fixed
assets, less the Property Revaluation Reserve, to indicate that these resources are not available for other purposes.

Foreign Currency Reserve

The Foreign Currency Reserve holds movements in currency valuations as at balance date for outstanding Forward Exchange
Contracts designated as hedges.

Designated Funds Reserve

The Designated Funds Reserve includes donations received for specific projects that have not been expended as at 30 June 2023
amounting to $107,995 (2022: $220,000). These funds will be disbursed according to project budget timelines.

Gifts in Wills Reserve

The Gifts in Wills reserve holds an amount set aside from legacies and bequests received to be used in planned expenditure over a
three year period. 

Risk Mitigation Reserve

The Risk Mitigation Reserve has been established to set aside amounts to mitigate against the risk of a drop in income from
modelled risk events, over a two year period. 

Committed Funds Reserve

Tearfund Australia has moral funding commitments to implementing partners for aid and development projects over the coming
years that are in excess of the current reserves of $5,038,339. Tearfund Australia also includes in this reserve planned and existing
impact investments, therefore Tearfund Australia continues to rely on future donations from supporters to meet these commitments.

Unrestricted Funds Reserve

The Unrestricted Funds Reserve is the amount available of unrestricted funds yet to be allocated for a specific operating or
strategic needs. 

Impact Investments Reserve

The Impact Investments Reserve reflects the amount that is expected to be invested in growth opportunities for Tearfund Australia,
but is yet to be invested at balance date. 
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15 Reserves (continued) 

Cashflow Reserve

The Cashflow Reserve sets aside funds to be used for monthly deficits due to cashflow timing throughout the year.

Retained Surpluses

For improved disclosure, Retained Surpluses are segregated into separate reserves. The balance of any retained equity is
allocated to the Committed Funds Reserve and therefore the balance of Retained Surplus is nil.

16 Donated volunteer services  

The Group receives donated services from volunteers. Where the fair value of the non monetary donation is reasonably
determinable, the revenue and corresponding expense are recognised when the non-monetary donation is received. Volunteer
services are valued based on guidelines received from the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade. The Group has appropriate
systems to reliably measure donated services. During the year, the total volunteer services received were valued at $85,100. Of
this amount $66,330 is classified as community education expenditure and $18,770 as program support costs. 

17 Financial Risk Management 

The Group's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and payable.

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9 as detailed in the accounting policies to
these financial statements, are as follows:

2023
$

2022
$

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 3,176,339 2,942,631
Trade and other receivables (excluding GST receivable) 6 81,106 81,433
Other assets - foreign currency contracts 10 745,117 803,523
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 5,409,500 5,932,976
Loans (Impact Investment) 7 190,604 93,436

Total financial assets 9,602,666 9,853,999

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables (excluding conference funds received in

advance)
 12, 14

160,674 175,449

Total financial liabilities 160,674 175,449
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18 Fair Value Measurement 

The Group has the following assets, as set out in the table below, that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis after their
initial recognition. The Group does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis and has no assets or
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis.

 

2023
$

2022
$

Financial Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Australian and international equities 1,564,213 1,529,596
Other investments 3,845,287 4,403,380

Property Plant and Equipment
Freehold Land and Building 5,000,057 4,759,361

For investments in listed shares, the fair values have been determined based on closing quoted bid prices at the end of the
reporting period.

For freehold land and buildings, the fair values are based on the external independent valuation performed in November 2022.

19 Interests in Subsidiary  

(a) Composition of the Group 

Percentage
Owned (%)*

2023

Percentage
Owned (%)*

2022

Subsidiary:
ForTomorrow Pty Ltd 100 100

*The percentage of ownership interest held is equivalent to the percentage voting rights for all subsidiaries.
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20 Events After the Reporting Period 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect
the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.

21 Related Party Transactions 

Other related parties include close family members of key management personnel and entities that are controlled or jointly
controlled by those key management personnel individually or collectively with their close family members.

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to
other parties unless otherwise stated.

During the financial year no transactions were made to related parties, other than as disclosed in Note 2 Key Management
Personnel Disclosures. 

Board Members are not remunerated but are reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred. 

22 Contingent Liabilities 

In the opinion of the Directors, the Group had $nil contingent liabilities at 30 June 2023 (30 June 2022: $nil).

23 Members' Guarantee 

The Company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a Company limited by guarantee. If the Company is wound
up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $1 each towards meeting any outstanding
obligations of the Company. At 30 June 2023 the amount that members of the company are liable to contribute if the company is
wound up is $123 (2022: $127).

24 Statutory Information 

The registered office and principal place of business of the company is:
Tear Australia & Controlled Entity
1/4 Solwood Lane
Blackburn, VIC 3130
Australia
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity
Directors' Declaration

The Directors of the Group declare that:

1. The financial statements and notes, as set out within this report, are in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012 and:

(a) comply with applicable Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures; and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements

(b) give a true and fair view of the company's financial position as at  30 June 2023 and of the company's performance, as 
represented by the results of the company's operations and cash flows, for the financial year ended on that date.

2. In the Directors' opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity will be able to pay its
debts as and when they become due and payable.

3. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements set out in the ACFID Code of Conduct. For
further information on the Code please refer to the ACFID Code of Conduct Implementation Guide available at www.acfid.ans.au.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Board Member .........................................................................................
                                                Joanna Lee (Deputy Chair)

Board Member .........................................................................................
                                                Graham Hall (Assurance Committee Chair)

Dated 
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20 Albert St, Blackburn VIC 3130
T +61 3 9894 2500 F +61 3 9894 1622
contact@sawarddawson.com.au
sawarddawson.com.au Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Member of Russell Bedford International

Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity
Independent Audit Report to the members of Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity (the Group), being a General Purpose -
Simplified Disclosures financial report, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023, the statement of income
and expenditure and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies,  and the directors' declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012, including:

 (i)

complying with the Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and Division 60 of the  Australian Charities and Not-
for-profits Commission Regulation 2022.

giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2023 and of its financial performance for the year ended;
and

 (ii)

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the
ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Group are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity
Independent Audit Report to the members of Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in ou

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

 opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

r auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity
Independent Audit Report to the members of Tearfund Australia & Controlled Entity

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Saward Dawson

Jeffrey Tulk
Partner
Blackburn, VIC
Dated: 28 September 2023
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